
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

Board of Selectmen 

Meeting Minutes 

January 14, 2008 

 

PRESENT: 

Mark Kaplan, Selectman 
Larry Ballin Selectman 
Brian Prescott, Selectman 
Jessie Levine, Town Administrator 
 
ALSO PRESENT: 

Linda Hardy, Town Clerk 
Senator Bob Odell 
Representative Randy Foose 
Representative David Kidder 
Bob and D.J. Lavoie, New London residents 
Debbie Cross, InterTown Record 
 

Mark Kaplan opened the meeting at 8:00 AM. 

New Selectman: Town Clerk Linda Hardy administered the oath of office of Selectman to Brian Prescott.   

Meeting with Legislative Representatives: Jessie Levine said that by way of opening this discussion, 
the removal of New London from the State’s ten-year plan is what triggered Selectmen’s invitation to the 
representatives to attend this meeting.  Mark Kaplan reminded everyone that repairs to Main Street have 
been in the State’s plan for over ten years, and despite the fact that the road is cracked and in disrepair, it 
has been suddenly dropped.  On the other hand, he pointed out that the State is using that fund to pay for 
other things—state troopers and detectives, for example. He suggested there is both an ethical and moral 
problem here. The State made a promise to spend that money on roads. He referred also to a letter from 
the State saying it would do something at Crockett’s Corner, if the Town agrees to pay a third of the cost. 
He pointed out that the State has other means of raising revenue to pay for the other things, whereas the 
Town relies on property taxes. 

All three legislators agreed that the funding system in this State is broken.  Randy Foose said the 
challenge is how to stimulate a productive conversation about realistic approaches to generating revenues. 
So far, there has been minimal positive reaction to the idea of looking at any additional sources or 
revenue, including the possibility of raising the gas tax, though that has not been raised since 1983.   

He went on to say that the current governor enjoys immense popularity and has made clear he is not going 
to the people for additional revenue; that he is going to say “no” to any additional taxes.  Rather, he would 
prefer to continue trying to squeeze $1.20 of value out of every $1.   

Regarding roads specifically, the legislators pointed out that Charles O’Leary was brought in as new 
Commissioner of DOT to get control of those finances, and to correct the situation there.  First thing 
noted was that the “ten-year plan” was really a 26-year plan. Commissioner O’Leary informed the 
Governor that they have got to be straightforward and let people know what the State can really afford, 
and to make clear that what is raised (for roads) is what will be spent, and to make clear that there are not 
going to be the dollars shown in the plan that were never really available in the first place.  At today’s 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
January 14, 2008 
Page 2 of 6 
 
 
meeting, Rep. Foose said that the cuts to the State’s road work plans were made across the State.  To add 
to the dilemma, the money in the federal highway grant program is projected to diminish over the next 12 
months as well.   

Mark Kaplan reiterated his concern that this fund that is from the gas tax was ear-marked for road work 
specifically and the State has been taking money out for other purposes.  If there is not enough in the fund 
for the road work in the first place, why is some of it being removed for those other purposes? 

Randy Foose said the first task (in getting DOT’s finances in order) was to define the budget parameters, 
i.e. to come up with a realistic inventory of projects that the State can fund, and next step will be to come 
up with revenues to address those projects that do not fall within that group. It is noteworthy that they are 
seeing some increase in efficiency.  For example, the State Police and the Highway Patrol will now be 
combined.  

Jessie Levine expressed concern that those federal moneys that provide the 80% of grants for which the 
Town applies may be in jeopardy.  She asked if the Highway Block is also in danger.  That comes up for 
review every two years, and the Town really does rely on that.  

Senator Odell assured the meeting that the legislature understands the Town’s dilemma.  There has been 
gross mismanagement at DOT in the past, and Commissioner O’Leary is addressing it.  He added that 
Governor Lynch himself has said that using the road money as an ATM for other expenses must stop.  
The problem that raises is how will those things -- such as State Police and detectives -- be paid.  Senator 
Odell also pointed out some economic inefficiencies in the gas tax itself.  It is a flat tax, not having been 
raised since 1983, though construction costs have risen more than 40%.  Also, more fuel efficient cars 
mean people are paying less gas tax.  

Randy Foose said that right now, the I-93 project is the “elephant in the room.”  That cost is projected to 
be $900 million.  Commissioner O’Leary sees two problems: a) the State does not have the money and b) 
if it is undertaken all at once, it will shut down the State’s hospitality industry.  O’Leary recommends 
carving the project in pieces.  Discussion is under way now regarding the “Garvey bond” to pay for those 
pieces.  Under that plan, the State would borrow the money for one piece at a time, and use as collateral 
the anticipated incoming federal funds (despite the fact that the federal government is having funding 
problems of its own).  It is understood that paying the bond would be the highest priority for the incoming 
federal funds. Another proposal is to borrow money from the infrastructure (funds) and put it back from 
the annual operating budgets.   

Jessie Levine referred to the final list of projects on the State’s “ten-year plan” (the one from which New 
London was cut). Are those projects really highest priority, or was the process somewhat politicized?  
Senator Odell said the list does include much needed projects, for example the State’s bridges are in great 
need of work.  That list is on the Governor’s desk now. Eventually, it will come back to the legislature, 
and representatives present at this meeting said they will do some advocating at that time for putting New 
London back in.  Selectmen and Jessie Levine thanked them for that, though Jessie Levine said she is 
reluctant to pit New London against other Towns that also have pressing needs.   

Larry Ballin asked if the pain from cuts was felt across the State. Senator Odell said yes, and he referred 
to the GACIT Committee, consisting mostly of Executive Councilors.  They met with Towns and 
concerned persons across the state and determined priorities.  It was during that process that they found 
the urgency the State has with its bridges.  One conclusion drawn during the process was that perhaps ten 
years is too large a window to look at, at any one time.  



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
January 14, 2008 
Page 3 of 6 
 
 
Jessie Levine asked about the State planning to spend $500,000 to expand the Park & Ride. She agreed 
that is a need, but is it highest priority. Bob Odell explained that that money will come from a different 
pool of money.  

He asked what New London’s highest priority is, and what the outside window for getting that done 
would be. Jessie Levine said that from the point of view of safety, addressing Crockett’s Corner is top 
priority.  The problems on Main Street are with drainage, and sidewalks, and the Town has been chipping 
away at those on its own for years. There is some concern now that the federal grant money may be 
drying up.   

Larry Ballin said there was some assurance from the State earlier last year that it would do something for 
Crockett’s Corner.  Everyone at this meeting agreed that that has been done, and it consisted mainly of 
repainting the lines so that lanes are narrower—the idea being that that would slow people down. Soon 
after that was done though, there was a fatal accident with a ten-wheeler at that intersection.  

Jessie Levine referred to a letter from Bill Cass of DOT stating that there is a $2.9 million overlay to be 
used for the resurfacing of that road from I-89, exit 11, eastward for five miles, and the target date for that 
work is 2009. She said she has tried unsuccessfully to merge the two (the resurfacing plus improvements 
to the intersection itself), and noted that New London does have capital reserves for intersection 
improvements, and for Main Street.  Randy Foose observed that if it (the resurfacing) is in there, it is 
easier to push it. He asked if it is just repaving. Senator Odell suggested that there may be some room 
there for “modifications” to that plan (modifications to include intersection improvements).  Jessie Levine 
asked how she could get more information on that. The three legislators at this meeting all agreed to look 
into this themselves, and they will get back to her and the Selectmen.  

Senator Odell asked about the County/Newport Road roundabout. Jessie Levine said that those 
construction estimates came in over what the Town had allocated, and they came close to delaying the 
project to the point that it would have lost that federal grant money. But they sought new bids, plus the 
hospital and the water precinct have been very cooperative in sharing costs, so will be able to go forward.  

Senator Odell opened discussion on the school funding issue.  He said the legislature has responded to the 
Supreme Court’s order to define adequate education. Now they are in process of costing it out, finding out 
how much more revenue will be required, and determining sources of that additional revenue.  A ten-
member Costing Committee has been formed, and that Committee has determined that meeting the 
criteria for the newly defined “adequate education” will cost $3500 per student, or $700 million.  The 
details that must be worked out are how to address those communities with a higher poverty level, that 
need and deserve additional funding.  They need to come up with a method for targeting aid.  Dave 
Kidder said the question of school accountability must also be addressed.  The Committee’s work must be 
completed by February.  

Mark Kaplan asked what will happen once all that is done and they find that the cost of funding an 
“adequate education” goes up from one year to the next.  Senator Odell said they hope that additional cost 
would come from growth in the economy.  What they really need is a method for targeting the aid. He 
also pointed out that a big problem for school districts is that the State’s budget process is out of sync (the 
timing of it) with the school districts’ budget cycle.  Therefore, the State needs to plan for school funding 
ten years ahead, so schools know what they will be getting.  Randy Foose also pointed out that there is a 
“disconnect” between giving money to Towns and giving it to schools.   

Jessie Levine asked if a shortfall for special education will be an issue. It may.  Randy Foose pointed out 
that 85% of special education students only need special education part of the time. The other 15% are 
fully immersed in special education, and there is a third group that require greater measures. Senator 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
January 14, 2008 
Page 4 of 6 
 
 
Odell noted that the State does pay 100% of costs for that third group, and its payments are 85% more 
than agency costs.   

Referring to “adequate education,” Senator Odell said the push now is toward improved literacy. The 
sentiment is that if we can get kids to read at grade level, there will be fewer problems down the road.   

Larry Ballin asked what their sense of the constitutional amendment is.  Randy Foose said the  
governor is pushing hard to get that in front of the people, and it may at least open the door for a 
discussion of finance policy.  To pass, a constitutional amendment would require 60% approval by the 
House, 60% approval by the Senate and 66% approval by voters.   

Representative Kidder opened discussion on Merrimack County costs, noting that the new formula 
proposed by the State is that it will pay $140 per day per patient at county nursing homes, down from 
$149.  Bottom line: that will result in a need to come up with an additional $700,000, and that is going to 
be passed on to the towns.  He said there is much activity now to rectify that.  Senator Odell notes that the 
State sets the rate, and the federal government will pay 50% of whatever rate the State sets. The counties 
do pay all costs for the long term care, and one problem with that is the great disparity in cost per 
household from one county to the other. He expressed grave concern that if the Medicaid shortfall is not 
addressed, the additional revenues will be taken away from education. He said one question people have 
is, why can’t our public nursing homes compete with private ones.   

Randy Foose said he has been impressed that representatives are all willing to work hard on every issue, 
regardless of party lines.  The parties continue to put the needs of the people and the need to solve these 
issues first.  Dave Kidder agreed that they are having rational discussions about how to deal with these 
things. All three representatives agreed that there is now a high level of competency among 
Commissioners. 

Mark Kaplan opened some discussion about the State’s retirement system. They promised more than they 
can deliver, and instead of cutting back, they are trying to raise more money.  Senator Odell agreed that 
per the original agreement, the system puts 1.5% revenue into the main body of the retirement account, 
and the overage goes into a “special account” for colas and health subsidies.  They need to put more into 
the main fund. He noted that this would not even be getting looked at now if not for the order from the 
Accounting Standards Board that calls for 60% level funding.  The same applies to the school funding 
issue. If not for the Supreme Court order, that would not be happening either. It often requires some 
external force to generate action.  

Selectmen thanked the Legislators for coming, and the latter suggested that they meet on a regular, more 
frequent basis. 

At this point in the meeting, Jessie Levine found more specific data showing that indeed 41% of the 
Highway Fund is transferred out for other purposes.  Question remains, how will those other purposes be 
paid for if not from the highway fund. Bob Lavoie asked about the increase in tolls. Those go into the 
turnpike fund, a different pool of money, not part of the ten year plan. 

PUBLIC HEARING – Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Mark Kaplan opened this hearing at 9:05 a.m., and read the notice as posted: 

Notice is hereby given that the Hazard Mitigation Pan for the Town of New London will be 
submitted for adoption to the Board of Selectmen at 9:00 a.m. on Monday, January 14, 2008 at 
the New London Town Offices (Old Academy Building). The draft Hazard Mitigation Plan is 
available on the Town’s web site at www.nl-nh.com. 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
January 14, 2008 
Page 5 of 6 
 
 

 

Upon a finding by the Board that the Hazard Mitigation Plan meets its approval, the Board will 
vote to accept the Plan and move immediately into public hearing on the merits of the proposal. 
Adoption of the Plan will stay on the Board’s agenda until it is either approved or disapproved. 

Anyone needing assistance in attending this hearing should contact the Selectmen’s Office at 
526-4821 or office@nl-nh.com. For more information, please contact Town Administrator Jessie 
Levine at 526-4821 ext. 13 or townadmin@nl-nh.com. 

Jessie Levine reported that FEMA has notified them that the Town does meet the requirements for this 
plan.  Larry Ballin asked to clarify that the Town will not be locked into all these provisions. Jessie 
Levine said, no, these are suggestions.  She said the first project for which they have applied for grant 
money is not even listed here—that is, redoing Lamson Lane, drainage from which affects the lake, and 
flooding of which isolates the houses there.  The Lamson Lane project will cost $450,000 and the State 
will pay 80% of that. 

D.J. Lavoie asked if there is something similar regionally. Jessie Levine said there is an Emergency 
Operations Plan on a regional basis. This is more of a planning document, not a response document. 

Hearing no further comments or questions, Larry Ballin moved that the Selectmen approve the Hazard 
Mitigation Plan as drafted.  Brian Prescott seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously 
approved.  Selectmen signed the resolution  

Minutes: Larry Ballin moved to approve the minutes of January 7 and 9. Mark Kaplan seconded. No 
further discussion. The motion was unanimously approved with Brian Prescott abstaining.   

Citizens’ Advisory Committee: Jessie Levine opened discussion on possible topics for this meeting. 
Larry Ballin suggested that school board representatives be asked to attend to discuss the budget.  The 
increase in the projected school budget will mean an additional 80 cents tax per $1000 valuation in New 
London, though everyone agreed that there is little discretion here; most of the increase is seen in 
contractual issues and things like fuel. The only discretion the school board has is in its operating budget, 
and that covers real educational tools.  Jessie Levine noted also that a $482,000 has been budgeted for a 
new well and water system. That accounts for 14 of those 80 cents. She said the school board has chosen 
not to bond that, fearing it might not get the 66% approval required for a bond. A bond would increase the 
cost, but spread the impact over time.  

Tracy Library Request for a 36 SF Banner: Jessie Levine said the Library would like to have this 
banner up between February 5 and February 12, for its open house scheduled for the 12th. The ordinance 
allows a 15-square foot sign in that zone.  Mark Kaplan asked what will happen if the Selectmen deny 
this.  Jessie Levine said they would have to reduce it to the allowed size of 15 square feet. They would not 
need zoning board approval for that.  Larry Ballin asked if they went to a smaller size, could they have 
multiple banners. No.   

Selectmen concluded that the library could use a banner that stays within the stipulations of the ordinance. 
Larry Ballin moved to deny this request. Brain Prescott seconded. No further discussion. The motion was 
unanimously passed.  

Committee Reports: Larry Ballin reported that the Planning Board has approved all the proposed zoning 
amendments although there will be slight modifications to the shoreland ordinance for the second public 
hearing. The only one that generated much discussion was the one about interior renovations and siding 
and roofing types.  He said this amendment is not an effort to micro-manage private construction, but 



Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes 
January 14, 2008 
Page 6 of 6 
 
 
rather is made in the interest of tax fairness.  Jessie Levine asked if there should be some publicity to that 
effect. She said John Wilson has asked if this would mean an automatic increase in a property’s valuation.  
Larry Ballin said it does not mean that, but will simply trigger a visit by the assessor.  D.J. Lavoie said 
she has heard similar concerns about this proposed amendment.  Larry Ballin said he has not heard such 
concerns, but that he would be fine with the idea of putting out some public information for clarification. 
He noted that all building permits trigger a visit by the assessor.   

He reported that at that Planning Board meeting, the Board met with Greg Gutgsell regarding the work at 
the Hayward building. During the meeting, Town Planner Ken McWilliams informed the applicant of the 
requirement for a security performance bond. Greg Gutgsell expressed concern about the timing of this 
information, and whether or not it will hold him up from getting into the building. At that meeting, Larry 
Ballin suggested that since the Planning Board will not be meeting on this again until February, the Board 
of Selectmen could sign off on the performance bond if necessary.  Jessie Levine explained that 
department heads asked the Planning Board to require this from now on, but she agreed that it should 
have been communicated to the applicant sooner.  Mark Kaplan and Brian Prescott expressed no 
objection to signing off on this if that is necessary prior to the next Planning Board meeting. 

Roundabout: Jessie Levine said there will be a pre-construction meeting at 2 p.m. on February 13 at 
Tracy Library. At that time they will determine phasing and scheduling.  She will report back to the 
Selectmen.  

Sewer Department Operations: D.J. Lavoie asked about the transparency in the sewer operations that 
was promised at the time of the change over from a Commission to the Public Works department.  Will 
there be opportunity for the public to go and see how it is running?  Jessie Levine said as with any 
department, there is transparency and the department head (in this case, the Public Works Director) is 
available to answer questions at any time.  She said that Ms. Lavoie is correct that the Board of Selectmen 
do not hold regular meetings on the subject, as the management is delegated to the department head. 

Fire Department Training Session: Bob Lavoie asked about the Fire Department’s training session at 
the college on Sunday.  Jessie Levine reported that that went well. The college did get all the proper 
permits, and worked on this in conjunction with DES. Larry Ballin asked if the College would reimburse 
the Town for demolition costs, and Ms. Levine said the Town usually pays for its own training sessions.  

Chairman: Larry Ballin moved that Mark Kaplan serve as Chairman for the duration of this term.  Brian 
Prescott seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously approved.   

Signatures 

 

• Disbursement voucher week of 1/14/08 – Approved 

• Appointment Card for Brian J. Prescott, Selectman - Approved 

• Letter of Commitment for 2008 Household Hazardous Waste Collections – Approved 

• NH Retirement System, Group II Position Certification Form for Karl Bjorklund - Approved 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Sarah A. Denz 
Recording Secretary 


